STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NATHANIEL BERNARD BEEKS

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001783

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In a trial where the only issue was whether Appellant committed murder or voluntary manslaughter, the trial judge erred in instructing the jury that words alone would not satisfy the element of voluntary manslaughter requiring sufficient legal provocation to negate malice and by failing to instruct the jury that legally sufficient provocation includes a very emotional argument.

COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether this Court should affirm under Rule 220(c), SCACR, because the trial judge's submission of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter was erroneous as a matter of law, where the only evidence in the record was that Beeks "snapped" when the victim told Beeks that "she was seeing someone else. ... [A]fter hearing that, "[he] grabbed her, threw her to the floor and started choking her." Beeks could only be convicted or acquitted of murder because the victim's exercise of her lawful right to terminate her relationship with him did not and could not constitute "sufficient legal provocation" to support a manslaughter charge and there is no evidence that the victim used vulgar or opprprious words or that she did anything other than merely inform Beeks of her intent to leave him?

- II. Whether, alternatively, this Court must affirm because the trial judge did not commit reversible error in giving the undeniably correct instruction that words alone are insufficient legal provocation when deadly weapon is used, since (1) the charge given was necessary for jurors to properly assess whether there was "sufficient legal provocation," where the State's evidence was that Beeks used his hands as a deadly weapon, (2) the challenged instruction could not have been prejudicial because it permitted jurors to properly assess Beek's claim that a "heated conversation" could constitute "sufficient legal provocation," and (3) this Court upheld an identical instruction in *State v Horton*, No. 2007-UP-502, 2007 WL 8391903 (Ct. App., Oct. 29, 2007)?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nathaniel Bernard Beeks (Beeks) is currently in the Perry Correctional Institution, of the South Carolina Department of Corrections, where he is serving a sentence of life imprisonment without parole (LWOP) for murdering Marsha Smith in her apartment. The Greenville County Grand Jury indicted him on August 16, 2011 for murder (2011-GS-23-6315) and grand larceny (2011-GS-23-6316). **R. pp. 254-59.** Randall Lee Chambers, Esquire, represented him on these charges, while Assistant Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor Judy Munson prosecuted the case.

Beeks received a jury trial before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes II, on August 12-14, 2013. Judge Hayes granted Beeks' motion for a directed verdict on the charge of grand larceny, at the conclusion of the state's case, based upon the prosecution's failure to present sufficient evidence as to the value of the car that was stolen. However, Judge Hayes denied a directed verdict on the offenses of murder and petit larceny. **R. p. 170, line 22 – p. 174, line 18.** The State then moved and was allowed to amend indictment 2011-GS-23-6316, so as to allege petit larceny. **R. p. 174, line 19 – p. 175, line 11.**

Judge Hayes charged the jury on murder, voluntary manslaughter and petit larceny. **R. p. 221, line 24 – p. 225, line 22.** The jury convicted Beeks of murder and petit larceny. **R. p. 228, lines 15-21.** Judge Hayes imposed concurrent sentences on him of life imprisonment for murder and thirty days for petit larceny. **R. p. 237, line 23 – p. 238, line 2; R. pp. 256, 259** (sentencing sheets).¹

Beeks timely served and filed a Notice of Appeal. He filed his Initial Brief of Appellant on January 13, 2014. Respondent now submits the Final Brief of Respondent.

¹ Beeks has completed his sentence for petit larceny.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Twenty-five year old Faith Smith testified that in April 2011, she was living in a Greenville, South Carolina, apartment with her minor son and her mother, Marsha Smith. **R. p. 9, line 5 – p. 10, line 25.** Faith did not know of anyone that Marsha was dating during the time that Faith was living with her. Faith knew that Marsha “was seeing Nathaniel Beeks ... [b]ut they wasn’t like together.” **R. p. 11, lines 11-21.** Marsha began dating Beeks eight or nine years before April 2011, and he would stay with Marsha when he came to Greenville. However, he was living in the Atlanta, Georgia area, they were no longer dating, and he did not have a key to the apartment. **R. p. 12, line 21 – p. 13, line 3; p. 17, lines 1-3; p. 27, line 17 – p. 28, line 18.**

Faith testified that Beeks arrived at Marsha’s and Faith’s apartment on Friday, April 22, 2011. **R. p. 12, line 23 – p. 13, line 3; p. 28, line 19 – p. 29, line 5.** Everything was apparently fine between Marsha and Beeks on Friday. **R. p. 29, line 10 – p. 31, line 8.** The following day was a completely different story.

After Faith got home from work on Saturday, April the 23rd, Beeks came by the apartment and banged and kicked on the door but Faith would not let him into the apartment. Marsha came home shortly afterwards and said, “Faith, ... come get your things because Nathaniel Beeks was at her friend[’s] house and he was acting the fool, he was drunk, acting crazy.” Her mother had a problem with Beeks drinking and they would sometimes argue about his drinking. So, Marsha took Faith and Faith’s two year old son to a birthday party that Maryssa Cantrell was having for her child. Faith and her son remained at the birthday party until Maryssa gave them a ride home later that night. **R. p. 13, line 4 – p. 14, line 16; p. 29, lines 1-17; p. 34, line 5 – p. 35, line 16.**

When Maryssa pulled up to the apartment, Faith saw Beeks coming down the stairs.

“[H]e was at the bottom of the stairs. He had a pillow and bags in his arm[s] with something hanging.” Faith exited the car and spoke to him, but he did not say anything and he tried to ignore her. He also did not answer her when she asked where her mother was. In response to her repeated efforts to get him to speak, he finally engaged in very brief pleasantries. **R. p. 14, line 15 – p. 15, line 12; p. 32, line 5 – p. 33, line 4.**

Next, Beeks went to Marsha’s black Honda, put the items he was carrying in the back seat and got into the car. As Faith was entering the house, he backed up and sped out of the driveway. This was unusual because Marsha did not let anyone drive that car, including Faith. However, Faith was still unaware that anything was wrong and she went into the apartment. **R. p. 15, line 23 – p. 16, line 19; p. 33, lines 5-11.**

Inside of the apartment, Faith found that the kitchen table and a chair in the kitchen had been overturned; one of Marsha’s tennis shoes was on the kitchen floor; a two-piece couch that was normally fastened had been pulled apart; there was “stuff all over the floor, [and] it was a big ole mess.” Immediately realizing that something was wrong, Faith searched throughout the house and called out for her mother, without getting a response. She finally found Marsha lying on the living room floor. Marsha’s back was “against the chair,” her head was tilted back and her mouth was open. Faith saw a scratch on Marsha’s chest and Faith could not get her to awaken. **R. p. 16, lines 22-25; p. 17, lines 4-24; p. 24, lines 6-23; p. 25, line 16 – p. 26, line 14; p. 27, lines 2-14.**

Faith then ran outside and ... started screaming.” A neighbor came outside and asked what was wrong but she was too upset to speak. So, the neighbor called 911. Moments later, Faith’s friend, Olijahwon Roberts, ran into the house to check on her. Once he saw the body, he took her out of the apartment and would not let her re-enter. **R. p. 17, line 24 – p. 18, line 17.**

Maryssa Cantrell testified that she was twenty-four year old. In April 2011, Maryssa was living in Greenville. Faith Smith is her best friend and she knew Marsha through Faith. **R. p. 112, line 16 – p. 114, line 6.** Around 7:00 p.m. on the night of April 23, 2011, Marsha dropped off Faith and Faith's son at the birthday party that Maryssa was having for her son. Maryssa spoke briefly to Marsha and Marsha did not appear to be intoxicated. Faith stayed at the party until Maryssa drove her and her son home sometime after 9:00 p.m. **R. p. 114, line 7 – p. 115, line 25.**

After dropping off another friend who had attended the party, Maryssa drove Faith home. While Maryssa was talking to Faith and Faith was getting her son out of the car, Maryssa saw Beeks walk out of the apartment, go over to Marsha's car and put a duffel bag and a pillow into the car.² He then went back into the apartment. He did not speak to her or to Faith. Even after Faith spoke to him, he only stared and did not speak. **R. p. 119, line 12 – p. 120, line 8.**

Beeks went back into the apartment for a brief period. Less than two minutes later, he drove away in Marsha's car. Maryssa did not see anyone else in the car. **R. p. 116, line 1 – p. 119, line 11.**

Cpl. John Blassingame, of the Greenville City Police Department, was the first officer to respond. He arrived around 10:30 p.m. Although Faith was very hysterical, she told him that Beeks had killed her mother and took her mother's car. He escorted her back into the residence briefly, and she got her mother's insurance card. Cpl. Blassingame called the insurance company, obtained the car's VIN and tag numbers, and called dispatch with this information. This resulted in a BOLO. **R. p. 36, line 25 – p. 37, line 21; p. 38, lines 8-19; p. 39, lines 5-23.**

While Cpl. Blassingame was in the apartment, he observed that items seemed to have

² She had seen Beeks at the apartment because he was usually there when she went to visit Faith. **R. p. 118, lines 2-8.**

been knocked over, and the apartment was “[k]ind of [in] disarray.” It did not look like the apartment was normally kept in that condition. **R. p. 38, line 23 – p. 39, line 2.**

Olijahwon Roberts testified that he and Faith Smith were friends and had gone to high school together. His sister lived in the same apartment complex as Marsha and Faith Smith. Olijahwon was at his sister’s residence on April 23, 2011. When he went out to his car to get his cell phone and call Faith that night, he heard someone screaming. He initially did not pay that much attention to it, and he walked back through the house and asked his parents if they had heard anything. **R. p. 41, line 11 – p. 42, line 23.**

As soon as he went back outside, his sister’s boyfriend told him that Faith was screaming. So, Olijahwon ran to her apartment and knocked on the door.

... [The door] was a little bit opened. So, I opened it up and went in. And [I] saw her holding her momma and her son was standing beside her and she was crying. So, I ran back out the house to get some help. And that’s when I ran into my mother and my aunt and next door neighbor. And I asked if anybody [knew] CPR.

R. p. 43, lines 1-8.³

Mrs. Billie Witherspoon is Olijahwon Roberts’ mother. She testified that he ran into her daughter’s apartment on the day of the incident, and he said that “something happened, something bad. And me and my sister followed him out the door” to Marsha’s apartment. Faith was crying and Mrs. Witherspoon saw Marsha lying in the position that Faith had described. Another woman present said that she knew how to perform CPR. So, Mrs. Witherspoon helped the woman lay Marsha’s body on the floor, for the woman to perform CPR. **R. p. 44, line 10 – p. 46, line 2.**

James Crawford testified that he is forty-eight years old and that he was living in

³ He recognized Marsha because he had met her once before. **R. p. 43, lines 8-9.**

Greenville at the time Marsha Smith was killed. He knew Marsha through her cousin, Susan, and he knows Faith. Also, he had known Beeks for roughly five years, he was aware that Beeks was seeing Marsha, and he knew that Beeks was living in Georgia at the time but visited Greenville on weekends. On the morning of April 23rd, Marsha came to Mr. Crawford's residence and she took Susan to the Bi-Lo. **R. p. 47, line 17 – p. 49, line 7; p. 53, lines 7-14.**

After the women returned from the store, Marsha stayed at the house and they talked, as Susan prepared to visit her mother at noon. As Mr. Crawford drank a beer and watched television, Beeks got off of a city bus and came into the house. Beeks and Crawford drank beer⁴ and “[e]verything was all right at the time.” **R. p. 49, line 21 – p. 50, line 9.** Marsha was not drinking because she does not drink. **R. p. 51, lines 12-13.**

About an hour later, however, Marsha and Nate had a conversation. Mr. Crawford did not hear what she said, but Marsha said something to Beeks that “triggered him off.” Beeks “jumped off the couch” and he was so mad that he slammed the front door on the way out of the residence. Beeks returned about thirty minutes later. He was sweating and he had beer with him. **R. p. 50, lines 10-22; p. 51, lines 14-16; p. 54, lines 11-23.**

Beeks did not answer Mr. Crawford when his friend asked what was wrong with him. He started another conversation with Marsha in the kitchen. Beeks soon got so mad that he gave Marsha a funny look, threw the beer under a coffee table where Marsha was seated, and he left the house again. This was the last time that Mr. Crawford saw him on the 23rd. **R. p. 50, line 22 – p. 52, line 1; p. 54, line 25 – p. 55, line 12.**⁵ Marsha stayed at the residence for a short period before announcing her intention to go visit her mother. She then left. **R. p. 51, lines 9-11.**

⁴ Beeks brought two beers with him. **R. p. 54, lines 3-5.**

⁵ In all, Beeks only drank two or three beers. **R. p. 55, lines 9-12.**

Darlene Barteo testified that she and Marsha had been co-workers at a residential psychiatric treatment center, and that they became "very close" friends. **R. p. 57, line 12 – p. 58, line 17.** They would discuss many things, including their children, the job and their relationships. **R. p. 59, lines 7-8.** Darlene had notice a recent change in Marsha's demeanor shortly before her death. In the past, Marsha had been "stressed out," but recently she had been a "happier person ... because [she] had met someone." **R. p. 59, lines 9-20.**

Darlene had never met this man but she had spoken to him once on the phone. **R. p. 59, line 23 – p. 60, line 1.** Marsha had met this man at the home of a friend in Greenville. This man "began to talk to her like a woman should be treated and talked to." Marsha liked this because "[s]he knew the difference when somebody [was] appreciating her as a woman as opposed to him being mean and frustrating her and getting drunk all the time." **R. p. 62, lines 10-22.**

According to Darlene, Marsha was looking for another apartment and "she found a nice place." The apartment complex where she was living "was infested with drugs." Marsha also wanted to leave because the complex to which she was moving had restrictions and only people who were on the lease could stay there. This made her "very happy." **R. p. 60, line 2-17.**

Darlene knew that Marsha had been in a relationship with Beeks for several years, and that he was then living in Georgia. She had assumed that he was in rehab there. **R. p. 61, line 21 – p. 62, line 4.**

Darlene last saw Marsha, at lunch, on the Thursday before she was killed. (This would have been April 21, 2011). Darlene testified that:

Marsha and I [were] at lunch and -- at our desk and we were talking about her getting away from Nathaniel. And we were discussing how she was going to do that. I gave her [advice] that maybe she should allow [me] or someone else to be around her at that time. It was a conversation of how she was going to tell him. Because she knew that he [sometimes had] a mean streak. Especially when he was

drinking. She did not like that.

* * *

She told me that she was going to be okay and that she would take somebody with her, [and] that somebody was going to be with her.

R. p. 61, lines 2-15. See also R. p. 62, line 23 – p. 63, line 8.

Ms. Carrie Wilson testified that she is Marsha Smith's mother. Marsha was killed a few weeks before her fifty-first birthday. **R. p. 64, line 7 – p. 65, line 14.** Marsha and Beeks had been seeing each other for eight or ten years. However, they did not have any children, they had never been married, and Ms. Wilson did not know whether they had ever lived together. **R. p. 67, line 19 – p. 68, line 5.**

Marsha came to Ms. Wilson's house between 6:00 and 6:30 p.m. on April 23rd and stayed for one or two hours. The two women were talking when Marsha's cell phone rang, but no one said anything when Marsha answered. This also happened a second time. **R. p. 65, line 17 – p. 66, line 13.**

The third time the phone rang, Marsha spoke to the caller. After Marsha's conversation with the caller, she told Ms. Wilson,

Momma, that was Nathaniel. And I'm going home. He wants me to come home and give me him clothing. He says that he's going back to Atlanta.

R. p. 66, lines 13-24.⁶

Because there was not a bus going to Atlanta that night, Ms. Wilson asked Marsha whether she was going to drive him to Atlanta. Marsha said that she was not going to drive him because he had been drinking. Ms. Wilson never saw her daughter alive after Marsha left her

⁶ Ms. Wilson was under the impression that Marsha had taken Beeks to his mother's house and that he was staying there. She did not see Beeks that weekend. **R. p. 68, line 19 – p. 69, line 5.** Also, Ms. Wilson did not know that Marsha had met someone else with whom she was romantically interested. **R. p. 72, lines 12-14.**

house. **R. p. 67, lines 1-16.**

Inv. Adam Davis testified that he is a forensic investigator for the Greenville County Department of Public Safety. He responded to the crime scene around 11:14 p.m. on April 23, 2011, and processed it after speaking to other officers who were present. He found the victim lying on the living room floor, in the manner described by Ms. Witherspoon. He also photographed what he had found and took a video of the scene. **R. p. 74, line 1 – p. 76, line 25.** He saw a baseball bat, which was normally left in a closet, but a swab for blood on the handle was negative. **R. p. 78, line 20 – p. 79, line 14.**

On the floor of the walkway between the living room and dining room, Inv. Davis found a black cell phone that was close proximity to the chair and an artificial tree that had been overturned. He found the victim left shoe under the kitchen table. The table appeared to have been moved and one of its legs was not flush with the floor. Also, there was an ashtray lying in the middle of the floor. **R. p. 80, line 1 – p. 81, line 4.**

In the living room, he found Marsha's cell phone in her right hip pocket. He also found a candle stand on the left side of Marsha's body and he observed what appeared to be a suspected hair on it. He located Marsha's glasses just to the right of her body. He seized all of these items. **R. p. 81, line 5 – p. 83, line 7; State's Exhibit 17 (photograph).**

Det. Collis Flavell works in the Greenville County Department of Public Safety's violent crimes unit. He testified that he became involved in the case on April 23rd, when Det. Garrison called and asked him to assist in investigating Marsha's homicide. Det. Garrison was working the crime scene when he got there. Det. Flavell left shortly and he took Faith Smith back to the office and obtained a written statement from her. **R. p. 104, line 14 – p. 105, line 9.**

On April 24th, law enforcement was attempting to find the victim's car and Beeks. Faith

had shown officers where Beeks lived in Atlanta. Dets. Flavell and Garrison went to the Atlanta apartment complex that Faith had identified for them. They also searched the surrounding roads and apartment complexes trying to find the vehicle and Beeks, but they did not locate either him or the car. However, they received a call from the DeKalb County (Georgia) Sheriff's Office on April 25th, informing them that the vehicle had located and towed to an Atlanta area wrecker company. **R. p. 105, line 24 – p. 106, line 25**

So, Dets. Flavell and Garrison responded to Atlanta and they had a wrecker service from Greenville meet them down there. Marsha's vehicle was then sealed with crime scene tape and towed back to Greenville. **R. p. 106, line 25 – p. 107, line 14.** On February 1st, he received information that Darron Montgomery, who was in the Greenville Detention Center, wanted to speak with him. Det. Flavell took a written statement from Montgomery. Montgomery was not offered anything nor did he request anything from Det. Flavell in exchange for the statement. **R. p. 107, line 15 – p. 110, line 15.**

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