ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001783**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

NATHANIEL BERNARD BEEKS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 E. North St., Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282**

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

second argument. While Beeks did get mad at the time, there was no physical violence involved in the arguments. Rather, he only slung beer cans down on a coffee table near where the victim was seated, and both Beeks and Marsha were unharmed. **R. p. 50, line 10 – p. 52, line 1; p. 54, lines 11-23; p. 62, lines 10-22.**

Respondent submits that, as a matter of law, there was an adequate cooling off period because these two, very brief arguments apparently occurred roughly nine hours or more before the homicide. *See, e.g., Sandoval-Hernandez*, 386 S.C. at 661-63, 690 S.E.2d at 585-86 (holding that defendant's "intervening actions and demeanor upon returning to the [allegedly drunken violent] party support a finding that he cooled off after being ejected"); *Byrd*, 323 S.C. at 322-23, 474 S.E.2d at 432 (holding that the defendant's actions between the alleged provocation and killing did not support a finding of sudden heat of passion); *Walker*, 324 S.C. at 261, 478 S.E.2d at 281-82 (finding that the defendant demonstrated cool reflection through his actions between the alleged provocation and the killing). That there had been an adequate cooling of Beeks' passions is circumstantially demonstrated by evidence that the victim was apparently unconcerned and voluntarily returned to her apartment, alone, when he summoned her back that night. **R. p. 66, lines 13-24.**¹³ Also, nothing in the record suggests that he was still drinking after the second argument and it is reasonable to infer that he did not drink because he threw down all the beer he had with him before leaving Crawford's residence.

As to the reason for arguments between the victim and Beeks, evidence was adduced that they occasionally argued about his drinking because he could be mean when he drank and she did not like that. **R. p. 13, lines 4-12; p. 35, lines 12-16.** On the other hand, there was evidence that the victim had recently met a new man; that she intended to inform Beeks of this and to end

¹³ Otherwise, this was evidence that he was lying in wait for her and is evidence of malice.

her relationship with him. **R. p. 60, line 2 – p. 61, line 15; p. 62, line 10 – p. 63, line 8.**

Granted, this is a circumstantial evidence case and Beeks was alone with the victim when he killed her. Further, his life-long friend, Darron Montgomery testified that there was a heated argument and that Beeks wanted her to “shut the f--- up.”¹⁴ So, “he grabbed her by her neck and he thought he had choked her out but she was gone.” However, Beeks did not tell Montgomery what the argument was about. **R. p. 94, line 24 – p. 96, line 23; p. 103, lines 1-8.**

Whether or not a heated argument may, under some circumstances constitute “sufficient legal provocation,” it is clear that it did not in Beeks’ case. To the contrary, **the only evidence** in the record about what caused Beeks to kill Marsha Smith was contained in his second statement to Det. Garrison. In that statement, Beeks said that he “snapped” when the victim told him that “she was seeing someone else. [A]fter hearing that, “[he] grabbed her, threw her to the floor and started choking her.” **R. p. 131, line 18 – p. 132, line 2.**

There is no evidence, whatsoever, that the victim hit him, struggled physically with him, yelled at him, used vulgar or opprprious words, or that she did anything before Beeks strangled her - other than merely inform him of her intent to leave him. In *State v. Smith*, 10 Rich. 341, 346, 1857 WL 3221; 3 (S.C. App.Law 1857), the Court quoted a California case for the following proposition:

[S]ome causes of passionate excitement are termed ‘legal provocations,’ while others have been declared not to be ‘legal provocations.’ This must not be understood to mean that a man has a legal right to be provoked, but only that the law regards certain offensive acts as provocations, while it refuses to consider others as such. The latter, though provocations in common parlance are not provocations in a legal sense, and therefore not comprehended in the legal phrase, *legal provocations.*”

(emphasis in online edition)

¹⁴This description of her behavior is express evidence of malice.

That is precisely what is presently before this Court and what distinguishes the present case from other cases where courts have found that a “heated argument” supported an instruction on voluntary manslaughter: what caused Beeks to react violently was simply the victim’s assertion of her legal right to leave Beeks and nothing more. *Accord State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 361, 535 S.E.2d 420, 424 (2000). *Contra State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998) (holding that evidence tended to show defendant acted in sudden heat of passion where defendant was in a heated argument with victim **and feared for his life because victim threatened him**);¹⁵ *State v. Lowry*, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993) (holding that a voluntary manslaughter charge was necessary where the defendant and the victim were in a heated argument **and victim was about to initiate a physical encounter when shooting occurred**); *State v. Gardner*, 219 S.C. 97, 105, 64 S.E.2d 130, 134-135 (1951) (the trial court erred by failing to charge jury on voluntary manslaughter, where defendant’s testimony that **his wife “ ‘jumped on me’ and ‘me and her got into it’** ...might be subject to the construction that there was some overt, threatening act or a physical encounter. At least there is sufficient doubt thereabout, we think, to warrant submission to the jury of the question of manslaughter”); *Davis*, 278 S.C. at 546, 298 S.E.2d at 779 (holding voluntary manslaughter charge was proper where a

¹⁵ Beeks cites *Wiggins* for the proposition that “fear can constitute a basis for voluntary manslaughter.” **Final Brief of Appellant, p. 13**. This is not a correct understanding of the law. As the Court explained in *Starnes*,

[A] person's fear immediately following an attack or threatening act may cause the person to act in a sudden heat of passion. However, the mere fact that a person is afraid is not sufficient, by itself, to entitle a defendant to a voluntary manslaughter charge. Consistent with our law on voluntary manslaughter, in order to constitute “sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation,” the fear must be the result of sufficient legal provocation and cause the defendant to lose control and create an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. Succinctly stated, to warrant a voluntary manslaughter charge, the defendant's fear must manifest itself in an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.”

Starnes, 388 S.C. at 598-99, 698 S.E.2d at 609. Further, given that Beeks told Montgomery he was arguing with the victim and “I just wanted her to shut the f-- up,” this scenario is unsupported by evidence. **R. p. 96, lines 2-10.**

witness testified that **defendant and victim had been fighting**); *State v. Kahan*, 268 S.C. 240, 246-48, 233 S.E.2d 293 (1977) (evidence showed that **Kahan and his wife had been arguing and Kahan drinking** “at a Christmas party **several hours before** the shooting” and Kahan claimed that wife committed suicide).¹⁶

Unless Beeks is taking the offensive and unsupportable position that a woman is viewed as chattel, *contra* U.S. Const. amend. XIII (“[n]either slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as a punishment for crime whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction”),¹⁷ Beeks could only be convicted or acquitted of murder because the victim’s exercise of her lawful right to terminate her relationship with him did not and could never constitute “sufficient legal provocation” to support a manslaughter charge. Therefore, it is unnecessary for this Court to address Beeks’ challenge to the trial judge’s definition of “sufficient legal provocation, since there was no evidence supporting a charge on voluntary manslaughter.

II. Alternatively, this Court must affirm because the trial judge did not commit reversible error in giving the undeniably correct instruction that words alone are insufficient legal provocation when deadly weapon is used, where (1) the charge given was necessary for jurors to properly assess whether there was “sufficient legal provocation,” since the State’s evidence was that Beeks used his hands as a deadly weapon, (2) the challenged instruction could not have been prejudicial because it permitted jurors to properly assess Beek’s claim that a “heated conversation” could constitute “sufficient legal provocation,” and (3) this Court upheld an identical instruction in *State v Horton*, No. 2007–UP–502, 2007 WL 8391903 (Ct. App., Oct. 29, 2007).

¹⁶ The emphasized portions of these cases makes clear that, to warrant a manslaughter instruction, the evidence must show more than the victim merely telling a defendant of her intent to exercise a legal right. There was no such evidence here.

¹⁷ As the United States Supreme Court explained in *United States v. Kozminski*, 487 U.S. 931, 942 (1988), “[t]he primary purpose of the Amendment was to abolish the institution of African slavery as it had existed in the United States at the time of the Civil War, but the Amendment was not limited to that purpose; the phrase ‘involuntary servitude’ was intended to extend ‘to cover those forms of compulsory labor akin to African slavery which in practical operation would tend to produce like undesirable results.’ ” (citing *Butler v. Perry*, 240 U.S. 328, 332 (1916)).

Alternatively, this Court should reject Beek's argument because the trial judge did not commit reversible error in giving the undeniably correct instruction that words alone are insufficient legal provocation when deadly weapon is used, where (1) the charge given was necessary for jurors to properly assess whether there was "sufficient legal provocation," where the State's evidence was that Beeks used his hands as a deadly weapon, (2) the challenged instruction could not have been prejudicial because it permitted jurors to properly assess Beek's claim that a "heated conversation" could constitute "sufficient legal provocation," and (3) this Court upheld an identical instruction in *State v Horton*, Op. No. 2007-UP-502, 2007 WL 8391903 (Ct. App., Oct. 29, 2007).

This Court recently explained well settled South Carolina law that:

"In reviewing jury charges for error, this Court considers the trial court's jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 90, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013) (citation omitted). "A jury charge is correct if, when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law." *Id.* at 90-91, 747 S.E.2d at 448." "A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal." *Id.* (citation and quotation marks omitted). "Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error." *Id.* at 94 n. 8, 747 S.E.2d at 449 n. 8. (citation omitted). "Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 261, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct.App.2004). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." *Id.* at 262, 607 S.E.2d at 95.

State v. Jenkins, ___ S.E.2d ___, 2014 WL 2119009, *3 (S.C. Ct.App., May 21, 2014). See also *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 31, 667 S.E.2d 728, 732 (2008) ("To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant"); *State v. Sims*, 304 S.C. 409, 422, 405 S.E.2d 377, 384 (1991) (jury instructions must also be considered as a whole, and if the instructions are free from any error, isolated portions

which might be misleading will not constitute reversible error).

When these principles are applied to the facts of this case, it is clear that the trial judge's instruction was proper and substantially covered the request to charge. Beek's objection is basically that there should not be a period at the end of the first sentence in the challenged portion of the instruction, arguing that the phrase must be connected to the use of a deadly weapon, which appears to be a correct statement of the law. He then contends that the charge given was erroneous because the trial judge separated the phrase "when a deadly weapon is used" from the rest of the sentence. Thus, the jury was confused and may have applied the proposition that "words are never sufficient legal provocation" to this case even if a deadly weapon was not used, leaving it impossible for Beeks to prove his case of manslaughter. **Final Brief of Appellant, p. 8.** Respondent submits that he has parsed the jury instruction too closely and that the charge given was correct.

Considered in its entirety, the challenged jury instruction accurately informed jurors that words alone are insufficient legal provocation to justify voluntary manslaughter where a deadly weapon is used. Here, the State's theory and its evidence was that Beeks used his hands as a deadly weapon. That Beeks used his hands his is unquestionably supported by the testimony of the pathologist, Dr. Ward.

Dr. Ward opined that the cause of death was "manual strangulation and he testified that "[m]anual strangulation is a process ... where the hands are used as the weapon to apply pressure to the vessels of the neck," thereby cutting off the blood flow to the brain and plunging the victim into unconsciousness and rapid brain death.¹⁸ Dr. Ward further testified that Beeks

¹⁸ Beeks did not kill the victim with some agency unlikely to produce death. To the contrary, manual strangulation is a form of agency that is likely to cause death. *See, e.g.,* Ortner-Unity: The Center on Family Violence, Fact Sheet: Strangulation in Domestic Violence Cases, http://www.sp2.upenn.edu/ortner/docs/factsheet_strangulation.pdf (last

squeezed the victim's neck so hard that he broke the hyoid bone, a bone in the middle of the neck encasing the esophagus. The bruising found on autopsy went so deep that it reached into the victim's neck muscles, and the victim lost consciousness in 12-20 seconds. Further, this required a great deal of force because, quite literally, Beeks squeezed the life out of the victim's body. *See R. p. 165, line 20 – p. 166, line 23.*

Yet, when the charge is read as a whole, it likewise permitted jurors to consider Beeks' assertion that there was "sufficient legal provocation" based upon the "heated argument" between that he had with the victim. The charge permitted them to consider this position, even though the only evidence was that Beeks used his hands as a weapon in order to strangle Marsha Smith. The phrase "words alone, however vulgar" might be confusing on its own; but when taken with the next sentence, it clearly indicates what the purpose of the two sentences is: that words must be accompanied by some overt, threatening act to constitute sufficient legal provocation when a deadly weapon has been used. Merely adding a period to create a sentence does not create any question as to the meaning when the phrase is taken as a whole. Additionally, Respondent would note that this Court has previously upheld an identical jury instruction and found it proper. *See Horton*, Op. No. 2007-UP-502, 2007 WL 8391903 at *2.

Finally, Beeks must understand how weak his argument before this Court is because he has blended the argument presented at trial with a challenge to the implied or inferred malice instruction on direct appeal (**Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 10-11, & 14**), even though this Court is procedurally barred from considering his argument because that portion of the charge was not challenged at trial. *See State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (stating a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal). *See also State v. Byram*,

visited June 27, 2014).

326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997) (same); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 340 S.E.2d 543 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal. To the extent that *State v. Griffin*, [129 S.C. 200, 124 S.E. 81 (1924)], may be inconsistent with this result it is overruled”).

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